Herrlich, Benjamin

Master's thesis / Diplomski rad

2023

Degree Grantor / Ustanova koja je dodijelila akademski / stručni stupanj: **University of Rijeka, Faculty of Medicine / Sveučilište u Rijeci, Medicinski fakultet**

Permanent link / Trajna poveznica: https://urn.nsk.hr/urn:nbn:hr:184:624209

Rights / Prava: In copyright/Zaštićeno autorskim pravom.

Download date / Datum preuzimanja: 2025-03-04



Repository / Repozitorij:

Repository of the University of Rijeka, Faculty of Medicine - FMRI Repository





UNIVERSITY OF RIJEKA

FACULTY OF MEDICINE

INTEGRATED UNDERGRADUATE AND GRADUATE UNIVERSITY STUDY OF

MEDICINE IN ENGLISH

Benjamin Herrlich

The Role of PrPC in the Course of CMV Infection

GRADUATION THESIS

Rijeka, 2023

UNIVERSITY OF RIJEKA

FACULTY OF MEDICINE

INTEGRATED UNDERGRADUATE AND GRADUATE UNIVERSITY

STUDY OF MEDICINE IN ENGLISH

Benjamin Herrlich

The Role of PrPC in the Course of CMV Infection

GRADUATION THESIS

Rijeka, 2023

Thesis mentor: Prof. dr. sc. Tihana Lenac Roviš.

The graduation thesis was graded on ______ in Rijeka, before the Committee composed of the following members:

- 1. Prof. dr. sc. Gordana Blagojević Zagorac
- 2. Prof. dr. sc. Astrid Krmpotić
- 3. Prof. dr. sc. Stipan Jonjić

The graduation thesis contains 28 pages, 3 figure, 1 table and 49 references.

Table of Contents

List of Abbreviations
1. Introduction1
1.1 Cytomegalovirus Infection1
1.1.2 Infection in Immunocompromised Individuals3
1.1.3 Congenital Infection
1.2 PrP ^c
2. Methods
2.1 Hematoxylin & Eosin Staining
2.2 Titer Determination
2.3 Cytokine Performance Assay
3. Aims and Objectives
4. Results
4.1 Newborn PrP KO mice inoculated with MCMV virus have milder histopathological changes11
4.2 Viral Titer in lungs are not influenced by PrP ^c
4.3 MCMV related inflammation induces IL-17A expression in lung- but not in brain tissue14
5. Discussion
6. Conclusion
7. Summary
8. Curriculum Vitae
Cited Literature

List of Abbreviations

- dpi Days post Infection
- GCV Gancyclovir
- HCMV Human Cytomegalovirus
- HE Hematoxilin & Eosin
- HHV Human Herpes Virus
- KO Knock Out
- MEDRI Faculty of Medicine University of Rijeka
- MCMV Mice Cytomegalovirus
- MEF Mouse Embryonic Fibroblasts
- PFU Plaque-forming Unit
- SNHL Sensorineural Hearing Loss
- VZV Varicella Zoster Virus
- WT Wild-type

1. Introduction

The Herpesviridae family includes at least eight species (HHV-1-HHV-8) that can infect humans and are classified into three subfamilies: α -, β - and γ subfamily herpesvirinae (1). Among these, HHV1-HHV-5 (herpes simplex virus type 1 and 2, varicella-zoster virus (VZV), Epstein-Barr virus, and human cytomegalovirus (HCMV)) are extremely widespread among humans, and it is estimated that more than 90% of adults are infected with at least one of them. Infections are asymptomatic or unrecognized in most infected individuals but can pose a serious risk to immunocompromised patients, leading to severe complications or even death. In addition, apart from VZV, to date, there is no vaccine for other members of the herpesvirus subfamily, which together with the relatively frequent presence of virus strains resistant to classical antiviral drugs requires the identification of new potential targets for future antiviral treatments.

1.1 Cytomegalovirus Infection

HCMV, also known as human herpes virus 5 (HHV-5) is a double-stranded DNA virus that is part of the β -herpesvirinae subfamily (1). Its genetic material encodes 165 genes rendering it the virus with the largest genome among herpes viruses. The most common route of transmission is contact with body fluids such as saliva, blood, breast milk, urine and genital secretions of infected individuals.

In horizontal transmission the virus enters the host organism via mucosal cells, viral replication occurs in fibroblasts and then spreads to myeloid cells, where it establishes a latency state (2). Initial detection occurs by binding of so-called pathogen-associated molecular patterns (PAMP) as well as damage-associated molecular patterns (DAMP). Those are recognized by pattern recognition receptors (PRR), among which Toll-like receptors (TLR) play a central role (3,4).

CMVs are known to evade immune surveillance and for this purpose have an extremely large genome in which they 'store' genes for immunomodulation. These mechanisms ensure the virus' survival in the host since CMV infection remains lifelong once a person has been infected. In fact, it is HCMV that is recognized as a representative of viruses that encode various proteins

and microRNAs capable of carrying out a whole series of immune evasion mechanisms, by manipulating innate natural killer (NK) cells, adaptive CD4+ and CD8+ T cells, neutralizing B cells and a whole series of soluble mediators of the immune reaction. As an example in terms of cytokines, CMV is known to influence the interleukin 10 pathway to suppress host response (5).

The cellular response triggers an extraordinary differentiation of T-cells in comparison to other human viruses. The proportion of the immune reaction is also reflected in the state of latency maintenance where CMV-specific T-cells dominate immunological memory compartments (6). It is however not established if this amount of memory cells is truly necessary to prevent reactivation. Virus-specific T-cells retain their cytotoxic potential and even continue to express pro-inflammatory cytokines such as INF- γ . Latent infection has further been linked to an increased risk of vascular damage (7). Additionally, the great effort of the immune system to maintain viral latency may contribute to the phenomenon of immune senescence, the decreased capability of the immune system usually seen in individuals above the age of 65 (8).

Primary infection in adults typically occurs asymptomatically, followed by the development of lifelong latency. Due to its asymptomatic course of infection, IgG seroprevalence ranges from 44.4 to 95.7% among the population of Europe. The IgG seroprevalence varies among the average populations of European countries (Germany 56.7%, Croatia 74.4%) and was found to be related to socioeconomic status (9,10). Even more concerning is the situation regarding IgM seroprevalence – indicating an active infection: European women of reproductive age (15–45 years) are serologically positive for CMV-IgM in 1.0-4.6% (11).

Considering that primary infection in otherwise healthy adults most commonly does not evoke symptoms, no treatment is indicated. The clinical picture includes nonspecific symptoms such as myalgias, a non-icteric increase of liver enzymes, and headaches, but may also mimic other infections in the shape of colitis or splenomegaly. In contrast to mononucleosis inflicted by Ebstein-Barr virus (EBV or human herpes virus 8 [HHV8]), which is part of the gammaherpesvirinae subfamily, symptoms such as posterior cervical lymphadenopathy and tonsillar pharyngitis are less common (12). The differential diagnosis of EBV infection can be excluded by the heterophile antibody test (also Paul-Brunnel test) (13,14). CMV rarely evokes

2

life-threatening consequences in otherwise healthy individuals (15). However, central nervous system manifestations resembling the ones seen in immunocompromised patients (16) have been reported (17,18). Diagnostic tools to confirm infection include the presence of relative lymphocytosis (with a share of atypical lymphocytes of >10%), serological testing for IgG and IgM as well as polymerase chain reaction (PCR) amplification of body fluids such as urine or saliva (15,19).

Current treatment options include antimetabolites and polymerase inhibitors (Table: 1). The firstline drug for CMV disease is Ganciclovir (GCV) or its orally available derivate Valgancyclovir. Both are deoxyguanosine analogs that can terminate DNA replication. The development of resistance is possible in case of mutation of the CMV enzyme which the drug targets. Side effects are nephrotoxicity and myelosuppression. Second-line drugs are Foscarnet and Cidofovir in case of resistance to GCV. Both resemble GCV in terms of mechanism of action and side effects. A third alternative to GCV is Letemovir, which inhibits the virus' terminase, an enzyme that is involved in its structural assembly. Its side effects are described to be rather mild. One promising, recently approved drug is Maribavir, an antimetabolite of ATP that targets the virus' kinases (20).

1.1.2 Infection in Immunocompromised Individuals

An immunocompromised state, which may result from immunosuppression after organ transplantaion – either bone marrow or solid organs – or long-term infection with the human immunodeficiency virus (HIV), is associated with an increased risk of opportunistic infection.

For example, alemtuzumab is a monoclonal antibody that binds to CD52, causing profound lymphodepletion, allowing its use during solid organ transplantation to prevent graft rejection. However, since lymphocytes are the key cells that control viral infections, patients are necessarily at increased risk of opportunistic infections, such as CMV (21). CMV has – besides active infection – been proven to negatively influence other conditions such as cardiovascular disturbances and acute rejection and mortality (22). CMV reactivation has also been associated with acute graft versus host disease (aGVHD)(23).

Before the advent of highly active antiretroviral therapy (HAART), CMV was a common AIDSdefining opportunistic illness. Fortunately, today CMV has a significantly lower incidence in AIDS patients (24).

Drug Name	Structure	Target	
(Val-)Gancyclovir	nucleoside analog	DNA Polymerase	
Foscarnet	nucleotide analog	DNA Polymerase	
Cidofovir	nucleotide analog	DNA Polymerase	
Letermovir	terminase inhibitor	CMV Terminase	
		Complex	
Maribavir	ATP analogs	Viral Kinase	

Table	1.	Antiviral	CMV	Drugs
1 4010	T	i iiici v ii wi	0111	DIGSS

CMV disease prevention in high-risk patients such as immunocompromised or transplant recipients follows two treatment principles, namely universal prophylaxis and pre-emptive therapy. The universal prophylactic approach includes prophylactic dose treatment, but its positive effects may be limited by the drugs' side effects. Pre-emptive therapy indicates weekly serum viral titer monitoring with drug administration only in case of an unexpected rise (13,25).

1.1.3 Congenital Infection

In terms of epidemiology, CMV-infection is present in about 0.5% of live births per year in the USA (26). Mothers may be infected via contact with body fluids, blood transfusions or sexual intercourse. In the majority of cases, these are mothers whose first child contracted the disease from, for example, the kindergarten, while they were pregnant. The fetus, however, is infected transplacentally. Positive maternal serostatus does not prevent placental transmission (27). The time of infection during gestation is a major determinant of clinical outcome: during the first and second trimester the transmission risk is estimated to be around 20% and reaches 70% until the

third one (28). Infection risk due to reactivation is estimated to be significantly lower. The most severe sequelae are seen in fetuses infected during the first trimester (29).

Among infected newborns, only around 10-15% present clinically detectable features. The most prominent symptoms/signs are small gestational birth weight, petechiae, jaundice, hepato- and splenomegaly as well as neurological manifestations such as ventricular calcifications, microcephaly, lethargy, and hypotonia.

Laboratory examination may support the diagnosis by displaying hepatobiliary system disturbances such as hyperbilirubinemia (conjugated/direct) and an increase of the liver aminotransferases. Both clinical findings commonly become apparent within the first two weeks after birth combined with thrombocytopenia (30). Long-term sequelae include severe psychomotor and perceptual handicaps such as bilateral sensorineural hearing loss (SNHL) and mental retardation. There is a significantly higher risk of developing SNHL in infants who are symptomatic at birth (31). The absence of predictive tools to identify newborns at risk renders the treatment difficult, bearing in mind the side effects of approved antiviral drugs. Diagnostic evidence of active infection can be established by confirmation of viral particles in the urine or saliva as well as presence of immunoglobulins in the blood. Postnatal infection is possible but bears no risk of development of pathologies of the central nervous system (32).

1.2 PrP^C

Since cytomegaloviruses are species-specific, the study of HCMV virus is not possible in animal models, but related animal viruses are used for this purpose, such as murine cytomegalovirus (MCMV) that infects mice (33). Studies of MCMV infections in adult mice played a significant role as a model of CMV pathogenesis, especially for the reason that an exceptional number of genes involved in the immunoregulation of the host's immune response are present in both viruses and are very similar. Animal models as such are necessary, given that there is no way to replicate the complexity of the immune system in vitro (34). In adult mice, the infection does not reach the brain, therefore MCMV infection in newborn mice is successfully used as a model of

congenital HCMV infection in newborns. This model was established and is in full use at the Faculty of Medicine University of Rijeka (MEDRI). It is shown that newborn mice infected with MCMV have high viral titers accompanied by a strong inflammatory response and that the inflammatory response itself is the basis of many damages, primarily to the central nervous system (35).

Given that the cellular prion protein PrP^c, which is strongly expressed in the CNS, has recently been identified as one of the molecules that could lead to a calming of the inflammatory response (36), a team of researchers from MEDRI is studying its role in the immune response during CMV infection in newborn mice, and a publication is in preparation. One of the key findings was that mice lacking PrP^c had lower viral titers. During the research, which was primarily focused on the CNS, a preliminary result indicated that MCMV could behave differently in the lungs of newborn mice, i.e. only in that tissue there was no difference in the viral titer of PrP KO and WT mice, or it was even opposite to that in other organs. For this reason, this thesis is focused on examining the behavior of the virus in the lungs of PrP KO and WT mice.

PrP^c is most strongly expressed in the central nervous system, followed by the immune system, and then the lungs (37,38). As a protein, it has been well researched, given its role in the fatal Creuft-Jacobson disease (39). Lungs were interesting for us to investigate also because currently the effect of PrP^c protein in influenza A virus is best investigated. In the lungs of mice lacking PrP^c, the titer of influenza A virus was very high. Therefore, the involvement of PrP^c in the course of infection has been demonstrated in mice infected with influenza A virus. It has been established that PrP^c KO mice are more susceptible to viral infection and experience higher rates of mortality. The protective mechanisms have been associated with PrP^c's influence on superoxide dismutase activity (37) and impact on macrophage polarization (40).

The PrP^{C} is encoded by the *PRNP* gene on band 20p13 on chromosome 20 (Chromosome 2 for mice). The protein's length before post-translational modification is 253 amino acids. At its N- and C-terminal it is framed by signal sequences that target the endoplasmatic reticulum (ER) and

thereafter the glycophosphatidylinostol anchor on the cell membrane. Both are removed during the processing course. The signal sequence is followed at the N-terminal by an intrinsically disordered domain that is believed to enable most interactions with other proteins. The Nterminal further contains four octapeptide repeats. In its high content of histidine, this domain is involved in Cu²⁺ metabolism. The C-terminal domain has a globular structure composed of three α -helix and two β -sheets as well as interconnecting loops. A disulfide bridge is formed between Cys-Cys residues 179 and 214, which gives the final shape to the structure of the mature protein. There are also two glycan binding sides coming into play during posttranslational modification by prolonging the protein's half-life: the first one lies within the second α -helix and the second one between helix numbers two and three.

2. Methods

2.1 Hematoxylin & Eosin Staining

The process of Hematoxylin & Eosin (H&E) staining is a commonly applied method to differentiate tissue structures in histological slides. It is a two-dye technique, which facilitates tissue analysis by highlighting the intrinsic differences in the acidophilic and basophilic properties of cellular structure, ground substance, and fibrillary elements. Hematoxylin, being a basic color, stains acidic structures such as the DNA or RNA-rich components. Eosin, on the other hand, stains acidophilic structures such as collagen fibers (41). The staining process begins with deparaffinization: the slide is immersed two times for 3 minutes in 100% xylol, followed by two immersions in 100% ethanol for two minutes. Thereafter, two more 2 min baths in decreasingly concentrated ethanol (90% and 70%) are applied. The slide is thereafter immersed in distilled water for 2 minutes. The procedure's next step is a five-minute bath in hematoxylin, staining basophilic structures such as the nucleus. Excess dye is removed under running tap water for 5 minutes. Thereafter, the slide is immersed in eosin for one minute. Excess dye is removed under running tap water for 30 seconds. The slide is then dehydrated by immersions in increasingly concentrated ethanol. After one minute in 96% alcohol and two one-minute baths in 100% alcohol to remove the remaining water, the slide is placed in two xylol baths for 3 minutes. Entellan as a rapid mounting medium is applied to ensure durability. The slide is now ready for microscopic examination.

2.2 Titer Determination

Viral titer was determined using standard titration protocol: One day before titration, mouse embryonic fibroblast (MEF) cells are seeded in 48-well plates in Minimum Essential Medium (MEM) supplemented with 3% fetal calf serum (FCS). MEF cells are adherent and attach to the bottom of the well where they form a 'film' on which it is later possible to monitor virus-induced clearings (so-called plaques). On the day of titration, the virus-infected tissue is defrosted from -20°C to room temperature. Methylcellulose too is defrosted from - 4 °C to room temperature (25°C). Titer dilutions are carried out for $1:10^2$ to $1:10^5$. The tubes are filled with 900 µL of 3% DMEM (Dulbecco's Modified Eagle Medium) via a dispenser. Steel beads are added to tubes containing media and tissue for homogenization. Homogenization is carried out at 2/S (Svedberg) for 2 minutes followed by centrifugation at 4000 rpm for 5 minutes. Thereafter, 100 μ L of the homogenate is transferred to the first 1:10²-dilution and the solution is thoroughly mixed. Accordingly, further tenfold dilutions are prepared by transferring 100 μ L to the subsequent dilution step with fresh pipetting tips. Before the dilutions are transferred to the wells, the medium is removed from the MEF monolayer by a vacuum pump. 100 μ L of infected organ homogenate is transferred to the wells using a multi-tip dispenser. Centrifugal enhancement is thereafter carried out at 2100 rpm in order to increase viral infectivity (42). The plate is then placed into the incubator at 37°C and 5% CO₂ for 60 minutes. 500 μ L of methylcellulose is added from a sterilized graduated cylinder. It serves both as a nutritive medium as well as a physical restriction for viral progeny. The plate is placed in an incubator (37°C, 5% CO₂) for 3-4 days. Finally, the formed plaques are counted using a light microscope. The number of plaque-forming units (PFU) is quantified according to the step of dilution in relation to the extracted organ weight, determined earlier (34).

2.3 Cytokine Performance Assay

Cryopreserved organs were lysed using ProcartaplexTM buffer (Thermo Scientific) and homogenized (3 x 30s at frequency 2.5). Tissue proteins were quantified using a ProcartaPlexTM Mouse Immune Monitoring Panel 48-Plex (EPX480-20834-901, Thermo Scientific). We acquired this kit to determine differences in the inflammatory process in mouse tissues. For its analysis, a device is used that we do not own, so the prepared tissues were sent to our colleagues on dry ice, and the tissue analysis was performed at the Institut Pasteur in Paris. In short, DropArray 96-well-plates (Curiox Biosystems) were blocked with 1% bovine serum albumin (BSA) for 30 min. After blocking, 10 µL of premixed beads, then 10 µL of samples, controls, or standard were added per well and incubated for 2 h. The plates were incubated on the shaker, with 5 µL of detection antibody for 30 min, with 10 µL of streptavidin-PE for 30 min, and with 15 µL reading buffer per well, before being transferred to reading plates. Between incubation steps, plates were washed three times (PBS, 0.1% BSA, 0.05% tween) and DropArray LT210 MX washing station (Curiox Biosystems). The samples were read by the Bio-Plex200TM instrument (Bio-Rad) in 70 µL of reading buffer. We performed quantification and statistical processing of data on cytokines and other soluble molecules, obtained from Paris.

3. Aims and Objectives

The aim of the thesis is to examine the influence of PrP^{c} on the immune response against MCMV in the lungs in a model of congenital HCMV infection. Also, to correlate the results with findings in other tissues of mice inoculated with MCMV. The objective is to examine the preliminary observation that a different phenomenon occurs in lung tissue, that is, that there is no difference in virus titer in the lungs between strains or that PrP KO mice have even more MCMV virus in that tissue than the equivalent WT strain. Further, we will search for an explanation for this phenomenon.

4. Results

4.1 Newborn PrP KO mice inoculated with MCMV virus have milder histopathological changes

We decided to examine the organs of animals from experiments in which titers in the salivary glands, brain, and spleen were shown to be consistent with the phenomenon that PrP KO mice have significantly less MCMV virus in the organs (Figure 1 A). The observation that PrP KO mice have a statistically significantly lower titer than their WT counterparts was not published but is available as an abstract at the Sneak Peek link for previews of papers (43). In Figure 1A, we therefore show a schematic representation of the result we refer to.



Figure 1. PrP KO mice better control MCMV infection. A) Schematic representation which shows that PrP KO mice have lower virus titers in tissues (except lungs). B) Light microscope analysis of HE-stained CMV- and mock- infected liver. HE = hematoxylin & eosin staining. asterisks indicate statistically significant differences.

In order to examine the differences in the lungs, we selected an experiment in which the difference titer phenomenon was confirmed (Figure 1A). Livers were available from this experiment, which were used for histopathological staining, as a positive control that PrP KO mice have a slightly better histological picture in the organs (Figure 1B). First, we took livers from WT and PrP KO mice, uninfected and infected to confirm that WT mice have a stronger infection in liver tissue. Light microscope analysis in search of hematological centers in the liver serves as a semi-quantitative measurement of the state of damage suffered from infection. We opted for HE staining and found that the pattern was similar in terms of the amount of residual hematopoiesis due to infection (gray arrows), while in WT mice we found a slightly higher number and an increased size of immune infiltrates (indicated by black circles in the affected area). The histological analysis of liver tissue indicates a more effective viral clearance in liver tissue in PrP KO mice.

4.2 Viral Titer in lungs are not influenced by PrP^C

As displayed by the schematic representation (Figure 1A) in brain-, spleen- and salivary gland tissue the number of viral particles decreased on day 14 days post-infection in PrP KO mice. The most apparent difference was found in brain tissue. However, in lung tissue, viral titers behaved differently from expectations inferred from the aforementioned findings. There was no statistically significant difference between infected mice on 14 dpi. In fact, a trend was visible indicating increased viral titers in PrP KO mice compared to WT animals.

At 8 dpi viral titers show no significant difference comparing KO and WT mice (Figure: 2A). This is in line with the expectations and findings in other tissues, since the difference in viral



Figure 2: viral titers do not follow the trend seen in other tissues A) viral titers in lung tissue examined at 8 dpi (left) and at 14 dpi (right). B) Comparison of the same viral titers shown in each strain as a function of time. PFUlog/g = log of plaque forming unit per gram of infected lung tissue; asterisks indicate statistically signifiant differences. ns = not statistically significant.

titers is significant only on day 14 post infection. The determined decrease in viral titer comparing 8 and 14 dpi in WT mice is however statistically significant, indicating a successful induction of the adaptive immune response in lungs. Interestingly, the viral reduction appears to be somewhat slower in the lungs of PrP KO mice, which further indicates that this tissue might have a specific mechanism of viral control (Figure 2B).

4.3 MCMV related inflammation induces IL-17A expression in lung- but not in brain tissue

To investigate the determined difference, we compared the concentrations of 40 cytokines and other soluble molecules in lung and brain tissue to discover a reason for the divergent viral titers described earlier.



Figure 3: IL-17A in lung tissue does not correspond with brain cytokine levels. Levels measured at 9 dpi in C57BL/6 (WT) and PrP KO mice in left) lungs and right) brain. asterisks indicate statistically significant differences. only statistically significant differences are indicated.

In this comparison, IL-17A raised our attention. The interleukin's role in infection has proven complex, but it is generally considered pro-inflammatory. Cytokine concentrations of IL-17A or CTLA-8 (cytotoxic T-lymphocyte-associated serine esterase 8) measured at 9 days post-infection in mice lungs and brain displayed a significant difference. A significant increase of IL-17A was seen in lung tissue following infection both in WT and PrP KO animals (Figure 3, left).

In brain tissue, there was no significant increase of IL-17A following infection neither in KO nor WT animals (Figure 3, right). Our hypothesis is that in the lungs, the increased inflammatory effect through IL-17A may overshadow the inhibitory effect of the PrP^{C} itself. Namely, the inhibitory effect of PrP^{C} on the immune response is proposed by MEDRI researchers as an explanation for frequently encountered higher titers in other organs of WT mice, such as the brain.

5. Discussion

Preliminary data has found an influence of PrP^C on the extent of MCMV infection in terms of viral titers in the brain, the salivary gland, and the spleen (43). In these tissues, viral titers were decreased in PrP KO mice at 14 dpi.

Our histological analysis of liver tissue too suggests decreased damage in infected KO mice. To corroborate this deduction, it may be of further interest, to determine viral titers in liver tissue on 14 dpi. When investigating lung tissue, viral titers of infected animals behaved differently in that KO mice did not display lower viral titers on the same day past infection. Viral titers displayed no significant difference comparing WT and KO groups on 14 dpi with even a visible trend indicating higher levels of viral particles in KO mice.

Other authors have found the presence of PrP^c to influence the outcome of viral infection in favor of survival and decreased extent of lung damage in the course of IAV pneumonia associated with higher viral titers (37,40). Experiments in the aforementioned publications were however performed on a virus whose course of infection is very different from cytomegalovirus. Nevertheless, they instructed us to pay attention to the behavior of the CMV virus in the lungs, especially when we noticed an inconsistency with other tissues.

These contrasting viral titers let us search for differences in cytokine expressions between brain and lung tissue that may explain these findings. The rise of IL-17A levels measured in mice lungs and its apparent absence in CNS tissue after infection raised our attention. IL-17's role in the course of viral infection has proven complex. It has both been found to act pro- and antiinflammatory (44). Its involvement in the recruitment of B-cells in IAV infection indicates its importance in the mechanism of anti-viral defense (45). On the other hand, interleukin 17 A has been found to promote viral infection in other conditions by suppressing the immune response (46,47).

Increased levels of expression of IL-17A in CMV infection have been investigated in liver transplant recipients, where an increase was encountered after infection (48). Further, increased

levels of IL-17A in CMV-complicated renal transplants have been associated with acute rejection (49).

6. Conclusion

The results of our study indicate that the lack of PrP^{C} has varying effects on the immune response to CMV in different tissues. Our findings demonstrate that the absence of PrP^{C} does not have the same impact on the immunological response to CMV in lung tissue as it does in brain, spleen, and salivary gland tissue (43). The comparison of IL-17A levels between lung and brain tissue suggests that the regulation of this cytokine is not related to PrP^{C} 's immunomodulatory function in lung tissue during CMV infection. It should be noted that although our findings propose one possible factor contributing to the observed differences, it does not rule out the influence of other factors on these variations in lung and brain responses, which may or may not be related to PrP^{C} .

7. Summary

This thesis investigates the influence of PrP^{c} on the immune response against MCMV in lung tissue. Histological investigations support the preliminary claim that the absence of PrP^{c} influences viral clearance in multiple tissues such as in the liver leading to less recorded tissue insult.

Further, viral titration of lung tissue demonstrated no significant difference between wild type mice and those lacking PrP^{C} . Searching for an explanation for this finding, we analyzed differences in cytokine levels in the brain and lungs. We found IL-17A levels to behave differently in the lungs compared to brain tissue. Only in the lungs did we record a significant increase of IL-17A levels in PrP^{C} KO mice following infection while in brain tissue a comparable finding was absent. Concisely, our findings indicate the MCMV inflicted immune response to be differently affected by the absence of PrP^{C} in comparison to other tissues and the expression of IL-17A to be unrelated to PrP^{C} .

Keywords: cytomegalovirus, immunology, PrP, histology, lung

8. Curriculum Vitae

Benjamin Herrlich was born in Künzell, Germany on May 31st, 1998. He received his high school diploma from the Eduard Stieler Schule in Fulda. In 2017, he began his integrated undergraduate and graduate studies at the Medical Faculty in Rijeka, Croatia. His studying efforts were honored with a scholarship for special student achievements by the University of Rijeka for the academic year 2018/2019.

Benjamin acquired scientific working experience during his one-year lasting diploma research at the Center of Proteomics at the Faculty of Medicine, where he conducted experiments such as cell culturing and viral titration of cytomegalovirus in organs. He also developed a scientific approach to research in medicine and a critical approach to analyzing results.

During the COVID-19 pandemic in 2020/2021, he volunteered at the emergency department in Sušak, Rijeka for two months, where he assisted in the care and treatment of some of the most critically ill COVID-19 patients. Additionally, he volunteered at multiple departments during his summer breaks. Throughout his studies, Benjamin gained proficient skills in the Croatian language (B1 level).

Cited Literature

- Sehrawat S, Kumar D, Rouse BT. Herpesviruses: Harmonious Pathogens but Relevant Cofactors in Other Diseases? Frontiers in Cellular and Infection Microbiology [Internet]. 2018 [cited 2023 Mar 29];8. Available from: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fcimb.2018.00177
- 2. Goodrum F. HUMAN CYTOMEGALOVIRUS LATENCY: Approaching the Gordian Knot. Annu Rev Virol. 2016 Sep 29;3(1):333–57.
- 3. Murphy KM, Weaver C. Janeway Immunology. Garland Science; 2018.
- 4. Corinna LR, Don J. D. The immune response to human CMV. 2012;
- 5. Jackson SE, Redeker A, Arens R, Baarle D van, Berg SPH van den, Benedict CA, et al. CMV immune evasion and manipulation of the immune system with aging. GeroScience. 2017;39(3):273–91.
- Hadrup SR, Strindhall J, Køllgaard T, Seremet T, Johansson B, Pawelec G, et al. Longitudinal Studies of Clonally Expanded CD8 T Cells Reveal a Repertoire Shrinkage Predicting Mortality and an Increased Number of Dysfunctional Cytomegalovirus-Specific T Cells in the Very Elderly. The Journal of Immunology. 2006 Feb;176(4):2645–53.
- Cristescu CV, Alain S, Rută SM. The Role of CMV Infection in Primary Lesions, Development and Clinical Expression of Atherosclerosis. Journal of Clinical Medicine. 2022;11(13):3832.
- Pawelec G, Akbar A, Beverley P, Caruso C, Derhovanessian E. Immunosenescence and Cytomegalovirus: where do we stand after a decade. Immunity & amp Ageing [Internet]. 2010;7(1). Available from: https://doi.org/10.1186\%2F1742-4933-7-13
- 9. Lachmann R, Loenenbach A, Waterboer T, Brenner N, Pawlita M, Michel A, et al. Cytomegalovirus (CMV) seroprevalence in the adult population of Germany. Nevels M, editor. PLOS ONE. 2018 Jul;13(7):e0200267.
- Vilibic-Cavlek T, Kolaric B, Beader N, Vrtar I, Tabain I, Mlinaric-Galinovic G. Seroepidemiology of cytomegalovirus infections in Croatia. Wiener klinische Wochenschrift. 2016 Sep;129(3–4):129–35.
- 11. Fowler K, Mucha J, Neumann M, Lewandowski W, Kaczanowska M, Grys M, et al. A systematic literature review of the global seroprevalence of cytomegalovirus: possible

implications for treatment, screening, and vaccine development. BMC Public Health [Internet]. 2022 Sep;22(1). Available from: https://doi.org/10.1186%2Fs12889-022-13971-7

- 12. Jordan MC. Spontaneous Cytomegalovirus Mononucleosis: Clinical and Laboratory Observations in Nine Cases. Ann Intern Med. 1973 Aug 1;79(2):153.
- 13. Kaspar, Fauci, Hauer, Longo. Harrison's Principles of Internal Medicine. 19th ed. Mc Grawhill; 2015.
- 14. Horwitz CA, Henle W, Henle G, Snover D, Rudnick H, Balfour HHJ, et al. Clinical and Laboratory Evaluation of Cytomegalovirus-Induced Mononucleosis in Previously Healthy Individuals: REPORT OF 82 CASES. Medicine. 1986 Mar;65(2):124.
- 15. Taylor GH. Cytomegalovirus. Am Fam Physician. 2003 Feb 1;67(3):519–24.
- 16. Eddleston M, Peacock S, Juniper M, Warrell DA. Severe Cytomegalovirus Infection in Immunocompetent Patients. Clinical Infectious Diseases. 1997;24(1):52–6.
- 17. Arribas JR. Cytomegalovirus Encephalitis. Annals of Internal Medicine. 1996 Oct;125(7):577.
- Tetsuka S, Suzuki T, Ogawa T, Hashimoto R, Kato H. Encephalopathy Associated with Severe Cytomegalovirus Infection in an Immunocompetent Young Woman. Dkhil M, editor. Case Reports in Infectious Diseases. 2021;2021:1–6.
- Razonable RR, Inoue N, Pinninti SG, Boppana SB, Lazzarotto T, Gabrielli L, et al. Clinical Diagnostic Testing for Human Cytomegalovirus Infections. J Infect Dis. 2020 Mar 15;221(Suppl 1):S74–85.
- 20. Perera MR, Wills MR, Sinclair JH. HCMV Antivirals and Strategies to Target the Latent Reservoir. Viruses. 2021 May;13(5):817.
- Korneffel K, Mitro G, Buschor K, Rees M, Ortiz J. Low dose valganciclovir as cytomegalovirus prophylaxis in post-renal transplant recipients induced with alemtuzumab: A single-center study. Transplant Immunology. 2019 Oct;56:101226.
- 22. Griffiths P, Reeves M. Pathogenesis of human cytomegalovirus in the immunocompromised host. Nature Reviews Microbiology. 2021 Jun;19(12):759–73.
- Cantoni N, Hirsch HH, Khanna N, Gerull S, Buser A, Bucher C, et al. Evidence for a Bidirectional Relationship between Cytomegalovirus Replication and acute Graft-versus-Host Disease. Biology of Blood and Marrow Transplantation. 2010 Sep;16(9):1309–14.
- Schwarcz L, Chen MJ, Vittinghoff E, Hsu L, Schwarcz S. Declining incidence of AIDSdefining opportunistic illnesses: results from 16 years of population-based AIDS surveillance. AIDS. 2013 Feb 20;27(4):597–605.

- 25. Camara RD la. CMV IN HEMATOPOIETIC STEM CELL TRANSPLANTATION. Mediterranean Journal of Hematology and Infectious Diseases. 2016 Jun;8:2016031.
- 26. Congenital CMV Infection | CDC [Internet]. 2022 [cited 2023 Mar 27]. Available from: https://www.cdc.gov/cmv/clinical/congenital-cmv.html
- Britt WJ. Congenital Human Cytomegalovirus Infection and the Enigma of Maternal Immunity. Goodrum F, editor. Journal of Virology [Internet]. 2017 Aug;91(15). Available from: https://doi.org/10.1128%2Fjvi.02392-16
- 28. Pass RF, Anderson B. Mother-to-Child Transmission of Cytomegalovirus and Prevention of Congenital Infection. J Pediatric Infect Dis Soc. 2014 Sep;3(Suppl 1):S2–6.
- Faure-Bardon V, Magny JF, Parodi M, Couderc S, Garcia P, Maillotte AM, et al. Sequelae of Congenital Cytomegalovirus Following Maternal Primary Infections Are Limited to Those Acquired in the First Trimester of Pregnancy. Clinical Infectious Diseases. 2019 Oct 15;69(9):1526–32.
- 30. Boppana SB, Ross SA, Fowler KB. Congenital Cytomegalovirus Infection: Clinical Outcome. Clinical Infectious Diseases. 2013 Nov;57(suppl 4):S178–81.
- 31. BOPPANA SB, PASS RF, BRITT WJ, STAGNO S, ALFORD CA. Symptomatic congenital cytomegalovirus infection. The Pediatric Infectious Disease Journal. 1992 Feb;11(2):93–8.
- 32. VOLLMER B, SEIBOLD-WEIGER K, SCHMITZ-SALUE C, HAMPRECHT K, GOELZ R, KRAGELOH-MANN I, et al. Postnatally acquired cytomegalovirus infection via breast milk: effects on hearing and development in preterm infants. The Pediatric Infectious Disease Journal. 2004 Apr;23(4):322–7.
- Lisnić B, Tomac J, Cekinović D, Jonjić S, Lisnić VJ. Rodent Models of Congenital Cytomegalovirus Infection. In: Methods in Molecular Biology [Internet]. Springer US; 2021. p. 365–401. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1007%2F978-1-0716-1111-1_18
- Brizić I, Lisnić B, Brune W, Hengel H, Jonjić S. Cytomegalovirus Infection: Mouse Model. 2018;
- 35. Krstanović F, Britt WJ, Jonjić S, Brizić I. Cytomegalovirus Infection and Inflammation in Developing Brain. Viruses. 2021 Jun;13(6):1078.
- Bakkebø MK, Mouillet-Richard S, Espenes A, Goldmann W, Tatzelt J, Tranulis MA. The Cellular Prion Protein: A Player in Immunological Quiescence. Frontiers in Immunology [Internet]. 2015 Sep;6. Available from: https://doi.org/10.3389%2Ffimmu.2015.00450
- Chida J, Hara H, Yano M, Uchiyama K, Das NR, Takahashi E, et al. Prion protein protects mice from lethal infection with influenza A viruses. Perez DR, editor. PLOS Pathogens. 2018 May;14(5):e1007049.

- Tissue expression of PRNP Summary The Human Protein Atlas [Internet]. [cited 2023 May 8]. Available from: https://www.proteinatlas.org/ENSG00000171867-PRNP/tissue#rna expression
- Ladogana A, Kovacs GG. Chapter 13 Genetic Creutzfeldt–Jakob disease. In: Pocchiari M, Manson J, editors. Handbook of Clinical Neurology [Internet]. Elsevier; 2018 [cited 2023 May 8]. p. 219–42. (Human Prion Diseases; vol. 153). Available from: https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/B9780444639455000131
- 40. Chida J, Hara H, Uchiyama K, Takahashi E, Miyata H, Kosako H, et al. Prion protein signaling induces M2 macrophage polarization and protects from lethal influenza infection in mice. Langlois R, editor. PLOS Pathogens. 2020 Aug;16(8):e1008823.
- 41. Mescher AL. Junqueira's basic histology: Text and Atlas. McGraw-Hill Education; 2018.
- 42. Hudson JB, Walker DG, Altamirano M. Analysis in vitro of two biologically distinct strains of murine cytomegalovirus. Archives of Virology. 1988 Sep;102(3–4):289–95.
- 43. Karner D, Kvestak D, Kucan Brlic P, Cokarić Brdovčak M, Lisnic B, Brizić I, et al. Prion Protein (PrP) Alters Viral Control and Enhances Pathology After Perinatal Cytomegalovirus Infection. 2023; Available from: https://papers.ssrn.com/sol3/papers.cfm? abstract id=4392159
- 44. Ma WT, Yao XT, Peng Q, Chen DK. The protective and pathogenic roles of IL-17 in viral infections: friend or foe? Open Biol. 2019 Jul;9(7):190109.
- 45. Wang X, Chan CC, Yang M, Deng J, Poon VK, Leung VH, et al. A critical role of IL-17 in modulating the B-cell response during H5N1 influenza virus infection. Cellular & Molecular Immunology. 2011 Sep;8(6):462–8.
- Yuan J, Yu M, Lin QW, Cao AL, Yu X, Dong JH, et al. Th17 Cells Contribute to Viral Replication in Coxsackievirus B3-Induced Acute Viral Myocarditis. The Journal of Immunology. 2010 Oct;185(7):4004–10.
- Mukherjee S, Lindell DM, Berlin AA, Morris SB, Shanley TP, Hershenson MB, et al. IL-17–Induced Pulmonary Pathogenesis during Respiratory Viral Infection and Exacerbation of Allergic Disease. The American Journal of Pathology. 2011 Jul;179(1):248–58.
- Afshari A, Yaghobi R, Karimi MH, Darbouy M, Azarpira N, Geramizadeh B, et al. IL-17 mRNA expression and cytomegalovirus infection in liver transplant patients. Exp Clin Transplant. 2015 Apr;13 Suppl 1:83–9.
- 49. Dhital R, Anand S, Graber B, Zeng Q, Velazquez VM, Boddeda SR, et al. Murine cytomegalovirus promotes renal allograft inflammation via Th1/17 cells and IL-17A. Am J Transplant. 2022 Oct;22(10):2306–22.